IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 87,105

THOMAS E. AYERS,

Appellee.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 18 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

MANDATORY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE CONTROL COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS

Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 0238538

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

/jwc

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was charged by Notice to Appear with violating section 827.05 Florida Statutes (1991) (R 35-38). The defendant's five year old stepson, Clemmiet, was found wandering the streets of Riviera Beach at 10:00 P.M. in pajamas and bare feet.

A motion to dismiss was filed by the defendant challenging the statute twofold. The statute was challenged on its face in that it was "unconstitutionally vague, indefinite and overbroad," and additionally objectionable because it provides criminal penalties for acts of simple negligence. After hearing (R 3-30), the lower court granted the motion based upon the rulings in State v. McBride, 1 FLW Supp. 406 (June 1, 1993, Escambia County) and State v. Winters, 346 So.2d 91 (Fla. 1977). The lower court further certified the issue as a matter of great public interest (R 55-57).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court and certified the question to this Court. State v. Mincey, 20 Fla.L.Weekly D1597 (Fla. 4th DCA, July 12, 1995).

1

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State Legislature amended Section 827.05 Florida Statutes in 1991 to make willful negligent treatment of a child punishable as a misdemeanor in the second degree. The addition of the standard of willfulness remedies the earlier disability in the statutory construction and the public is capable of understanding what acts are made criminal by the statute.

ARGUMENT

A PART OF THE PROPERTY AND THE PROPERTY OF THE

THE AMENDED SECTION 827.05 FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The defendant claimed and the trial court agreed, that Section 827.05 Florida Statutes (1991) violates his state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law because it is allegedly "vague."

This Section provides:

Whoever, though financially able, negligently deprives a child of, or allows a child to be deprived of, food, necessary shelter, or medical treatment or permits a child to live in an environment, when such deprivation or environment causes the child's physical oremotional health significantly impaired or to be in danger of being significantly impaired shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in § 775.082 or § 775.083.

In <u>State v. Kinner</u>, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981), the Florida Supreme Court articulated the following general principle for judicial examination of allegedly unconstitutional statutes:

[There is a] strong presumption in favor of the constitutionality of statutes. It is well established that all doubt will be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of a statute..., and that an act will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt.

Accord, Falco v. State, 407 So. 2d 203, 206 (Fla. 1981) and State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279, 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), approved, Burch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1990). In the particular context of claimed due process violations, "it is well settled

the language of a statute or ordinance must convey a sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practice." Marrs v. State, 413 So. 2d 774, 775 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). "A vague statute is one that fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited and which imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and because of its discriminatory enforcement." Southeastern Fisheries Assoc., Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353-1354 (Fla. 1984). Accord, State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279, 282. people of ordinary intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application, the statute or ordinance violates the due process clause[s]. Marrs_v. State, 413 So. 2d 774, 775. However, "courts cannot require the legislature to draft laws with such specificity that the intent and purpose of the law may be easily avoided." Southeastern Fisheries Assoc., Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353.

As noted, section 827.05 now provides that whoever negligently deprives a child... or permits a child to live in an environment...to be in danger of being a significantly impaired shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree. The State submits that this legislative declaration clearly put this defendant on adequate notice that his alleged lack of knowledge of the whereabouts of his stepson did not shield him from guilt. If the mere subjective good-faith belief of a parent in the defendant's situation sufficed, the legislature would not have included the words "or permit" in the statutory scheme. See

Donovan v. Kaszychi & Sons Contractors, Inc., 599 F. Supp. 860, 871 (S.D. N.Y. 1984).

Properly read in pari materia, see e.g. Ferguson v. State, 377 So. 2d 709, 710 (Fla. 1979), it is clear that section 827.05 imposes an obligation upon a parent to take some affirmative action to prevent danger of significant impairment. Therefore, the negligence standard does not render the instant statute "vague." Furthermore, the courts have upheld statutes which are less precisely worded than §825.05 against challenges that they were void for vagueness. In Powell v. State, 508 So. 2d 1307, 1308-1311 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), review denied, 518 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1987), the First District held that section 950.09 Florida Statutes which proscribes "malpractice by a jailer" through "willful inhumanity and oppression to any prisoner," was not unconstitutionally vague. In Campbell v. State, 240 So. 2d 298 Supreme Court found that men of common (Fla. 1970) the understanding could comprehend the meaning. of the "unnecessarily or excessively chastise" when read in conjunction with the entire statute (§828.04 F.S.A.). See also State v. Raffield, 515 So. 2d 283 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), affirmed, Raffield v. State, 565 So. 2d 704, 706 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied 498 U.S. 1025 (1991) and Schmidt v. State, 590 So. 2d 404, 413 (Fla. 1991) cert. denied ______ U.S. _____, 118 L.Ed.2d 216 (1992).

The lower court's finding was specifically predicated on the standard of simple negligence recited in section 827.05 Florida Statutes. The court found that simple negligence is an unconstitutional standard to proscribe and punish conduct in

criminal cases, relying on State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977) and State v. Joyce, 361 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1978). Both of these cases deal solely with the statute prior to its amendment in 1991. Although the first clause of the new version of section 827.05 Florida Statutes is similar to the previous version cited in these cases in that the term "negligently" is specifically mentioned, neither of the cases deal with the amendment. The State was proceeding against the defendant under the amended portion of the statute which states:

...or permits a child to live in an environment, when such deprivation or environment causes the child's physical or emotional health to be significantly impaired shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083.

Fla. Stat. 827.05 (1991).

The State would contend that the amendment of the statute raises the degree of negligence to a higher degree than that established to cure liability. The burden of proof authorizing a recovery of exemplary or punitive damages by a plaintiff for negligence must show a gross and flagrant character, evincing reckless disregard for human life or the safety of the child exposed to its dangerous effects; or that the entire want of care of indifference raise the presumption would consequences; or such wantonness or recklessness or grossly careless indifference to the rights of others, which is an intentional violation of them. Graham v. State, 362 So. 2d 924 (Fla. 1978) quoting from Rusor v. State, 140 Fla. 217, 191 So. 296 (1939); State v. Greene, 348 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1977); State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977). A conviction of the defendant would have been predicated on a finding of willfulness rather than negligence and therefore sufficient to warrant criminal responsibility. Graham at 926.

Generally, words in a statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning. Pederson v. Green, 105 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1958); American Bankers Life Assurance Co. of Florida v. Williams, 212 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968). The State would augue that the defendant's acts could have been found to be willful when the statute dictates "or permits." Permit is defined as an express assent, agreement or allowance. Dictionary (5th Edition 1979); West's Thesaurus/Dictionary (1985). The requirement of willfulness amended statute, therefore, avoids (scienter) in the infirmity found in Winters with respect to the pre-amended section 827.05 (unintentional acts or conduct which is not the product of willfulness might be proscribed by the statute). State v. Joyce, 361 So. 2d 406, 407 (Fla. 1978).

The State disagrees with the county court's finding in State v. McBride, Fl.Supp. , Fla.L.Weekly Supp. 406 (June 1, 1993). The county clerk ruled that the amendment does not deal with the disability pointed out in Winters and discussed in Joyce. McBride does acknowledge that the problem for which the statute was struck in Winters was because criminal penalties could be inflicted on someone for an act of simple negligence. The McBride court went on to say, as in Winters, the simple remedy to that disability would be to make the standard one of

catpability or willfulness. The State, as previously discussed, argues that the amendment, making the standard one of willfulness, has remedied the disability considered in Winters.

Further, this Court has previously noted that, "even where the statute is reasonably susceptible of two interpretations, one which would render it invalid and the other valid, we must adopt the constitutional construction." State v. Lick, 390 So. 2d 52, 53 (Fla. 1980).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing argument and authority, the State of Florida requests that this Court reverse the Fourth District Court of Appeal and unhold the constitutionality of Section 827.05 (1991).