STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellee (Respondent), Thomas Ayers, accepts the statements of case and fact as set out by the Appellant (Petitioner), except to note the following. The prosecutor said (when reciting the factual basis of the charge that Mr. Ayers was "negligent" in babysitting two children), that:

Basically, he allowed them to play in the rain while he slept on the couch.

(R82) The Appellee notes (as does Appellant), similar cases involving the same issue and certified question, including <u>State of Florida v. Colleen Traversa</u>, now before this Honorable Court as Case Number 87,106. (Appellant brief, page 1.)

The consolidated opinion, appealed by the State from the Second District, also included as Appellee-Respondents, Kathleen Ruth Hammond and Alma A. Moulton, who are represented by other counsel. See, <u>State v. Ayers et al.</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2696 (Fla. Second DCA December 8, 1995).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court previously found Florida Statute 827.05 unconstitutional. Since then the Legislature amended the statute to target "financially able" parents who permit their children to live in an environment, in danger of being significantly impaired. But the statute *still* gives the appearance of criminalizing the "negligent treatment of children," as shown by its very title.

If the statute targets willful or culpable negligence - as the Appellant argued at one point - then it is simply a mirror image or carbon copy of §827.04. As such it is redundant; mere surplusage. As this Honorable Court has previously held, the statute cannot be used to punish "simple" parental negligence. Thus the only viable option for the Legislature - by and through §827.05 - is to create a new "intermediate level" of parental negligence. But if the Legislature is creating a new class of negligence, it must provide enough guidance, to individual prosecutors, so the statute will not be enforced in an arbitrary, capricious or discriminatory manner.

This it does not do. For one thing, the definition of "willful or culpable negligence" has been worked out over the centuries in the Common Law of England and the case law of this country. There is no such depository of decisional law by which the courts of this state can interpret and implement some new class of negligence, if that is the intent behind §827.05.

Then too, the need for such guidance is *especially* great because the statute will infringe or usurp a right "intimate to the point of being sacred;" the right to beget, bear, raise and teach

one's children as one sees fit. But, "the fundamental theory of liberty upon which all governments in this Union repose excludes any general power of the state to standardize its children..."

Pierce v. Society of Sisters, infra.

However laudable the legislative ideal, §827.05 is based on a number of flawed premises. It's based on a presumption that some "parents" - who happen to be legislators - can sit in judgment of the value judgments of other parents. The statute presupposes the need to standardize parental choice and responsibility. The statute - at least interpreted by Appellant - reduces the subjective good-faith belief of all parents, making such choices, to the status of "mere-ness." The statute presupposes that parenthood should be licensed and regulated, in the same manner as The statute dilutes, diminishes or punishes a driving a car. "liberal," experience-oriented style of parenting, and promotes a more conservative, more-restrictive - and some would say, more barren - style of parenting. And at bar the statute has been used to prosecute indigents - those represented by public defenders whose financial status should constitute an "affirmative defense." As presently worded, it would appear the statute will have to be interpreted - eventually - so that only those parents who can afford their own attorneys can be prosecuted.

In <u>State v. Joyce</u>, this Court said the inherent infirmity of §827.05 is its providing that "unintentional acts or conduct which is not the product of culpable negligence might be proscribed by statute." The Legislature has not corrected that infirmity.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE STATUTE AS AMENDED IS STILL UNCONSTITUTIONAL, BECAUSE IT CAN BE USED TO CRIMINALIZE A BABY-SITTER WHO TAKES A NAP, WHILE THE CHILDREN IN HIS CHARGE "PLAY IN THE RAIN."

Under the statute as amended, prosecutors can charge a baby-sitter or other "parent" who lets his children play in the rain, as he naps on a couch.² No more eloquent argument could be made against this statute than those simple facts.

In <u>State v. Joyce</u>, 361 So. 2d 406, 407 (Fla. 1978), this Honorable Court said the infirmity of the former Chapter 827.05 was its holding that "unintentional acts or conduct which is *not* the product of culpable negligence might be proscribed by statute.³" Based on the facts of the instant case, the same finding is warranted on the amended §827.05; it *still* criminalizes "negligent treatment of children," as shown by its very title.

The Second District added that Mr. Ayers admitted not feeding the children for the "two or three hours he had been baby-sitting," and that the children were "wet and soiled" (presumably after playing in the rain). See <u>State v. Ayers et al.</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2696 (Fla. Second DCA December 8, 1995). Further, the Court recited that the cribs were broken and unsafe, the mattresses soiled, and no food was in the apartment for the children. Id.

The record below does not show whether the parent(s) were charged for the situation in question, or why the baby-sitter was charged in addition to or instead of those parent(s). The parent(s) may have been financially "un-able," but that would not explain why a baby-sitter was charged for home-conditions that would not appear to be his responsibility. The fact that a baby-sitter was charged for such conduct simply affirms that the statute is vague, and subject to arbitrary and capricious prosecution.

³ Emphasis added.

Despite some minor changes in language, the statute remains unconstitutional. And, it seems that in producing §827.05, the Legislature is trying to create a new "intermediate" class of negligence: trying to punish something less than the willful or culpable negligence already punished by §827.04, yet trying to punish something more than the "simple negligence" that cannot - at least according to this Honorable Court - lawfully be made a crime.

In <u>State v. Winters</u>, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977), this Court ruled the former §827.05 unconstitutionally vague, indefinite and overbroad. As presently worded, §827.05 is identical to that unconstitutional statute, except for the highlighted words:

Whoever, though financially able, negligently deprives a child of, or allows a child to be deprived of, necessary food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment or permits a child to live in an environment, when such deprivation or environment causes the child's physical or emotional health to be significantly impaired or to be in danger of being significantly impaired shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree...

(Emphasis added.) Thus - among other things - a plain reading of the statute shows it targets "financially able" parents, while leaving unmolested parents who are *not* financially able. The children of those "un-able" parents will still live in environments subjecting them to danger of being "significantly impaired."⁴

A situation that raises possible equal-protection problems, not to mention problems involving a parent's right to raise his child according to his religious faith, whether financially unable or not. See, e.g., <u>Hermanson v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 1992). As shown by <u>Hermanson</u>, some reasonable people could conclude that the religious beliefs of *some* parents could result in an environment where the child is in danger of "significant impairment."

The problem is, that "environment" is both all around us and inescapable. These days (for example), elementary-school children carry guns and sell drugs, so some reasonable people could say the simple act of sending a child to school puts him in an environment "likely to cause significant physical or emotional impairment."

In a recent poll conducted by the St. Petersburg Times, sixty-two percent of students agreed with the statement, "I worry about my safety when I'm in school." Thus, a prosecutor who felt no qualms about charging a baby-sitter for napping while "his" children play in the rain, would also feel no qualms about charging any of the sixty-two percent of parents in St. Petersburg who are now (presumably) on notice that letting their children attend a public school violates the "new" §827.05. As this Honorable Court has held, statutes must be construed to avoid such absurdities. 6

In further words, §827.05 sets an impossible standard.

Thus the issue is whether §827.05 - previously found to be

Page 1-D, St. Petersburg Times, Monday, April 17, 1995, "Expressline," sub-titled, "Violence in the schoolyard."

[&]quot;Last week we asked you if you worry about your physical safety when you go to school. Out of 463 calls, 286 (62 percent) of you said YES, I worry about my safety when I'm in school. While 177 (38 percent) of you said NO not me, I feel safe at school."

The following were some of the responses which accompanied the calls: "I think that schools ... are not safe - not at all." (Ellipses in original) "I don't feel safe. There was a fight where a kid [went] through a window. Fortunately, I haven't heard about any weapon situations." But another student added, "I worry about safety all the time. I am a high school student. They don't just fight - they pull out guns and stuff." Id, at 2-D.

See, <u>Radio Tel. Communications v. Southeastern Tel.</u>, 170 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1964), which held among other things that it is the judicial system's function and duty, if a literal interpretation of a given statute would lead to an unreasonable result, to "examine the matter further."

unconstitutional by this Honorable Court - has been *cured* of its defects through the words "though financially able," and "permits a child to live in an environment ... in danger of being significantly impaired." Put yet another way, the question is whether (contrary to <u>Winters</u>), the statute *still* provides "criminal penalties for acts of simple negligence."

On that note, the weakness of Appellant's "adopted" argument is found the *summary* of that argument. See, "Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u> (moved to be "adopted" in this appeal), at page 3 of that petition:

The State Legislature amended Section 827.05 Florida Statutes in 1991 to make willful negligent treatment of a child punishable as a misdemeanor in the second degree. The addition of the standard of willfulness remedies the earlier disability in the statutory construction and the public is capable of understanding what acts are made criminal are made criminal by the statute.

(Emphasis added.) With all due respect, the Petitioner in Mincey seems to have completely misread the statute. To begin with, the word "willful" is conspicuous by its absence in §827.05. Then too, if the statute does punish "willful or culpable negligence" of children, it is simply a mirror image of §827.04. That is, the section would be virtually identical to §827.04, and so "mere surplusage." Third, this summarized argument was expressly contradicted by the Second District Court of Appeal:

Section 827.05 attempts to create a second-degree misdemeanor punishing a person

To wit: that the changes in statutory language have cured the defects of a statute previously ruled unconstitutional.

who negligently deprives a child of necessary food [etc.]...

See, <u>State v. Ayers et al.</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2696 (Fla. Second DCA December 8, 1995), emphasis added. Finally, the last statement in Appellant's summary-of-argument is belied by plain common sense, and by the facts of this particular case. That is, few members of the public would realize the statute criminalizes a baby-sitter who lets the children in his charge play in the rain while he naps. In the alternative, few members of the public would know that -according to at least one prosecutor - the statute allows a baby-sitter to be penalized for some *transferred* "intermediate negligence" of the parents.

Clearly, if the learned counsel in <u>Mincey</u> doesn't fully understand what the statute criminalizes - as shown by the cited summary of argument - and if that learned counsel's understanding is contrary to that of several district court judges, it can be safely said the statute *is* vague, overbroad and *extremely* difficult to understand, even for trained legal minds.

Returning to Appellant-Petitioner's "adopted" brief, the Appellee agrees with many of its points, though not the dispositive one. For example, the Appellee agrees there is ordinarily a strong presumption in favor of the constitutionality of such statutes. But, the Appellant-Petitioner went on to concede the dispositive point on appeal, as shown in the case law cited in his argument; that a statute is vague if it "invite[s] arbitrary and

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in State v. Mincey,
moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at pages 4-5.

discriminatory enforcement." As noted, no more compelling argument could be made that *this* statute invites such enforcement than the simple facts of this particular case.

The Appellant-Petitioner then argued:

If the mere subjective good-faith belief of a parent in defendant's situation sufficed, the legislature would not have included the words "or permit" in the statutory scheme. 10

There lies another "fundamental" flaw in the statute.

Unlike the State, the Appellee suggests that the "subjective good-faith belief" of any parent - in the raising of his or her child - is entitled to great deference. Thus, to attach the word "mere" to the honest efforts of any parent - to raise his child the best way he can - is to insult the integrity of all parents. So one fundamental flaw in Appellant's argument is the assumption that there are objective standards of parenting, and that those objective standards can be handed down by a far-away Legislature, "from on high," and to which all parents in Florida must meekly submit or face criminal prosecution.

Certainly there can be no argument that the Legislative goal of §827.05 was laudatory. No reasonable person would disagree with the *ideal* that all children should have "necessary food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment." But the statute remains fundamentally flawed because it *presumes* that legislators and

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>,
moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at pages 5.

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>, moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at page 5.

prosecutors are better able than parents to set out objective standards of child-raising, which will not be enforced arbitrarily or capriciously. Further, the statute is flawed because - according to Appellant - it reduces the subjective good-faith belief of all parents to the status of "mere-ness."

Appellant then argued that §827.05, as newly-worded, "imposes an obligation upon a parent to take some affirmative action to prevent danger of significant impairment," thus implying that the statute sets out some new standard. But Appellee suggests there already exists that sense of obligation, in any and every parent, to take those actions in the best interests of his or her child, to prevent "impairment," significant or otherwise. The Appellee further suggests this pre-existing sense of obligation is what most people call conscience: "The faculty of recognizing the distinction between right and wrong in regard to one's conduct [or] conformity to one's own sense of right conduct." 12

Referring to the facts below, some parents would agree that it's irresponsible and possibly "negligent" to allow a child to play in the rain, unsupervised. On the other hand, many reasonable parents would say playing in the rain (with or without "proper" supervision) represents the quintessence of "child-ness;" that

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>, moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at page 6.

The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, Delta, 1977, page 154. See also, <u>Pierce v. Society of the Sisters</u>, 45 S. Ct. 571, 573 (1924), (infra), referring to "the right, coupled with the high duty," of the parents of every child, to "nurture him[,] direct his destiny ... and prepare him for additional obligations" of adulthood.

state of being unfettered and free of the cares of the world; the cares of the world that will come later, with adulthood. Thus the flaw in this statute - as presently worded - is that it usurps both the conscience and "subjective good-faith belief" of all parents. In short, the Act fosters the tendency of some to reduce the "joy" of parenting to a single set of barren, objective standards.

Then, despite Appellant's argument at one point that the Act punishes willful or culpable negligence, 13 at another point the Appellant argued that the new §827.05 "raises the degree of negligence to a higher degree..." 14 In other words, in that statement the Appellant seemed to agree with the assertion that the statute is seeking to cure the defect of punishing "simple negligence" - which cannot lawfully be done - while not rising to the level of punishing willful or culpable negligence, which is already penalized in §827.04. In further words, the Appellant seems to agree that the new §827.05 is creating a new "intermediate level" of negligence.

But again, the problem with creating such a brand-new "intermediate level" of negligence is that there is simply no guidance at hand to enable the courts to interpret and implement that new brand of negligence. There is no body of Common Law to fall back on, and the only guidance from the Legislature is that the statute is applies to "financially able" parents who permit

¹³ Just like §827.04.

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>, moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at page 7.

their children to live an environment presenting a danger of some significant impairment.

But that ostensible "guidance" raises far more questions than it answers. How much must parents earn to be "financially able," and so liable under the statute? Is there a separate financial standard for single parents; the divorced, the widowed and widowered, the unwed? Is a public school by nature an "impairing" environment, subjecting those parents to criminal liability? And if not, why not, when public-school students carry guns, sell drugs, join gangs? How much violence must occur at a public school before it is classed as a "public nuisance?" Is a private school by nature less an "impairing" environment? If so, are "financially able" parents required to send their children to private schools, or be charged under §827.05? Reasonable parents could ponder at length these and other questions raised by the statute, yet still not know when and how they might be prosecuted.

In short, the statute as presently worded does not contain sufficient guidance to individual prosecutors, to prevent the arbitrary, capricious or absurd enforcement best exemplified by the case against Mr. Ayers. As explained below, such guidance is mandated because the "right" being tampered with (by The State) is "intimate to the degree of being sacred." That is, the right to beget, bear and raise children is fundamental, guarded by the federal and state Constitutions. "The State" has no business trying to regulate that parental right without clear and specific guidelines to prevent prosecutorial over-reaching.

Finally, the Appellant argued that the "simple remedy" to cure \$827.05 of its defects was "to make the standard one of culpability or willfulness," and that by doing so the Legislature "has remedied the disability considered in <u>Winters</u>." But as noted, if that's all that's been done with \$827.05, the Legislature has simply made it a carbon-copy of \$827.04. If both sections punish willful or culpable negligence, then \$827.05 punishes the same level of culpability as \$827.04. As such, \$827.05 can be safely consigned to the status of redundance and "mere surplusage."

Then too, in his statement of facts the Appellant noted with approval the Second District's apparent concession that "other state courts have upheld the constitutionality of similar legislative enactments." The Appellant noted that "concession" on the apparent theory that because other states have approved criminalizing simple parental negligence, Florida should do it too. But Appellee suggests the Second District was recognizing, while rejecting, the sentiment of some people that parenting should be licensed and regulated, like the driving of a car.

That is, the Appellee agrees that the Second District did acknowledge the apparent result in other jurisdictions, that "mere negligence" could be punished as a misdemeanor. But that sentiment was expressed in a paragraph recognizing (but rejecting) the sentiment above, before ending with the statment that "there is

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>, moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at pages 8-9.

[&]quot;Petitioner's Brief on the Merits" in <u>State v. Mincey</u>, moved to be "adopted" in this appeal, at page 4.

some support" for a simple-negligence standard:

As recently as 1973, a person in Florida who repeatedly drove in a careless manner could be convicted and punished by fines and imprisonment similar to those penalties now available for a second degree misdemeanor, even though carelessness is comparable to simple negligence. Thus, there is at least some support for the constitutionality of the negligence standard in this revised child neglect statute.

State v. Ayers et al., 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2696 (Fla. Second DCA December 8, 1995). The Appellee suggests that in this passage the Second District was using the rhetorical device of "irony."

Certainly there is "some support" for the contention that parental negligence should be punished by law, just as there is "some support" for the idea that parenting should be licensed and regulated in the same manner as driving a car, and just as there is some support for host of other ideas that can be safely classified as "off the wall." But simply because an idea has "some support¹⁷" does not mean it should be given the force of law. Thus the Second District was likely saying that even ideas with "some support" should be carefully examined before being given the force of law.

The Second District recognized that while negligent or careless driving can be punished by law, "careless parenting" cannot and probably should not. But since Appellant seems to be suggesting the new §827.05 should be recognized as valid as

Other ideas, all of which have "some support," are ideas for a flat tax, for no taxes, for castrating criminals, for assassinating certain objectionable foreign officials, for warehousing all criminals, regardless of the severity of their crimes, and for letting police ignore "legal technicalities" in the pursuit and punishment of law-breakers and other disreputables.

§316.030 (Fla. Stat. 1973), the Appellee must risk overstating the obvious; there are significant differences between the two.

First, it is established beyond cavil that driving a car on the public highways is not a right, but a privilege. The same is not true (yet) of the right of parents to bear and raise children as they see fit; that right is - as noted - "intimate to the degree of being sacred." Griswold v. Connecticut, infra. Unless and until parenting is licensed and regulated in the same manner as driving, the comparison suggested by the State is inapposite.

On that note, some years ago the Oregon Legislature passed a law requiring all children between 8 and 16 to attend public schools, which the Appellee suggests is as laudable a goal as mandating that each child in Florida receive "necessary food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment." Yet notwithstanding that laudable goal, the United States Supreme Court struck down the statute because it usurped and infringed the fundamental, highly-personal right, duty and obligation of all parents to "direct the upbringing and education of children under their control." See, Pierce v. Society of the Sisters of the Holy Name, 45 S. Ct. 571, 573 (1924) (emphasis added):

[T]he Act of 1922 unreasonably interferes with the *liberty* of parents and guardians to direct the upbringing and education of children under their control... The fundamental theory of liberty upon which all governments in this Union repose excludes any general power of the state to standardize its children... The child is not the mere creature of the state; those who nurture him and direct his destiny have the right, coupled with the high duty, to recognize and prepare him for additional obligations.

Contrary to <u>Pierce</u>, §827.05 does seek to mandate certain minimal, "standardized" levels of care for all the children in this State. While that is a laudable goal, the problem is the statute as presently worded unreasonably interferes with the right - not the privilege - of parents to raise their children as they see fit, without undue interference from "The State."

Certainly the Appellee is not saying parents have a right to deny their children a certain minimum level of "necessary care and shelter." But the State's problem is to articulate an objective set of standards from "on high," without infringing on the rights and duties of all parents, and without impermissibly trying to "standardize" - on pain of criminal prosecution - this State's children. This Honorable Court made substantially the same point in State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991, 993 (Fla. 1977):

Depending on the standard adopted, any given shelter, whether in the suburbs or the ghetto, could be found to fall short of "necessary shelter." Similarly, each person must ask how much and what quality of food, clothing, shelter and medical treatment he must provide to avoid jeopardy. Nothing in the statute gives us the answer. There are no guidelines.

Just as there were no guidelines in the former §827.05, there are no guidelines in the new §827.05, except the added proviso of financial ability and a "requirement" that the offending parent not permit his child to live in an environment subjecting him to the danger of "significant impairment." As noted, the amended language raises far more questions than answers.

Again, the only proof needed that the statute can be abused are the facts in this case: under the statute as presently worded,

some prosecutors believe they can charge baby-sitters for the "sins" of the parents (instead of or in addition to charging the parents), while also believing that parents who let their children play in the rain unsupervised can be charged as well.

In other words, as presently worded the statute cannot accomplish what it seeks to accomplish - creating an "intermediate level" of parental neglect - without infringing on the fundamental right of parents to make necessary "value judgments."

That is, in <u>Griswold v. Connecticut</u>, 381 U. S. 617, 85 S. Ct. 1678 (1965), the U. S. Supreme Court recognized that "the right to educate one's children as one chooses is made applicable to the States" through the First and Fourteenth Amendments, and further that that First-Amendment right includes "freedom of inquiry, freedom of thought, and freedom to teach." 85 S. Ct., 1680, emphasis added. Simply put, the Legislature cannot regulate such a "sacred" right without providing far more guidance than that given by the present §827.05.

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